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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

CAROL SCHAFFLING : NO.: 

45 Fern Road : 

Southampton, PA 18966 : 

                                             Plaintiff, : 

 : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

                        vs. : TWELVE JURORS REQUESTED 

 : 

DANIEL MCPHILLIPS, : 

Individually and as the Bucks County Recorder of Deeds : 

55 E. Court Street : 

Doylestown, PA 18901 : 

 : 

and : 

 : 

BUCKS COUNTY OFFICE OF  : 

THE RECORDER OF DEEDS : 

55 E. Court Street : 

Doylestown, PA 18901 : 

 : 

and  : 

 : 

COUNTY OF BUCKS  : 

55 E. Court Street : 

Doylestown, PA 18901 : 

                                             Defendants. : 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

  

COMPLAINT 
 

 Plaintiff, Carol Schaffling, by her attorneys, Hamburg, Rubin, Mullin, Maxwell & Lupin, 

P.C., hereby brings the above captioned cause of action and avers the following: 

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff, Carol Schaffling (“Schaffling”), is an adult individual living at 45 Fern 

Road, Southampton, PA 18966. 

2. Defendant, Daniel McPhillips (“McPhillips”), is an adult individual and the current 

Bucks County Recorder of Deeds with a regular place of business at 55 E. Court Street, 
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Doylestown, PA 18901. McPhillips is a party to this Complaint both individually and in his official 

capacity as employed by the County of Bucks. 

3. Defendant, County of Bucks, is a governmental entity located at 55 E. Court Street, 

Doylestown, PA 18901.  

4. Defendant, Bucks County Office of the Recorder of Deeds (“Recorder of Deeds”), 

is the keeper of Bucks County’s historical documents and is located at 55 E. Court Street, 

Doylestown, PA 18901. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the present matter pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 in that the present matter involves a civil action arising under a law of the United 

States.  This civil action is instituted pursuant to the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

6. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) as it is the judicial 

district in which the events giving rise to the present action occurred. 

PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

7. In or about January 2018, Robin Robinson (hereinafter, “Robinson”), a registered 

Democrat, took office as the elected Bucks County Recorder of Deeds.  

8. In or about February 2018, Robinson hired Plaintiff to manage the finance 

department of the Recorder of Deeds. Plaintiff is a registered Democrat, 

9. During Plaintiff’s employment with the Recorder of Deeds, Robinson sought re-

election in 2021. In furtherance of Robinson’s campaign, Plaintiff donated money and distributed 

cards to independent voters supporting Robinson. 

10. In or about the September 2021, then-Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds, Steve 

Pizollo resigned from his position. 
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11. Subsequently, Robinson promoted Plaintiff to Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds. 

12. Upon Plaintiff’s promotion to Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds, Plaintiff 

satisfactorily performed the duties of her position, earning approximately $81,600.00 per year. 

13. In or about November 2021, Defendant McPhillips, a registered Republican, was 

elected Recorder of Deeds and subsequently took office on or about January 4, 2022. 

14. On or about March 2, 2022, Defendant McPhillips requested a meeting with Plaintiff 

and abruptly terminated her, separating her from employment effective March 3, 2022.  

15. Defendant McPhillips relayed to Plaintiff he was “going in a different direction” and 

that March 2, 2022 was her last day.  

16. Immediately after terminating Plaintiff, Defendant McPhillips hired Suzanne 

McCracken, a registered Republican, to replace Plaintiff as Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds. 

17. Just a few weeks prior to Plaintiff’s termination, Defendant McPhillips praised 

Plaintiff’s performance to Dianne Magee, former Solicitor for the Bucks County Recorder of Deeds. 

18. Defendant McPhillips terminated Plaintiff because of her political party affiliation 

and engagement in constitutionally protected activity, namely showing support for Robinson’s re-

election as Bucks County Recorder of Deeds. 

19. As a result of her sudden and unexpected termination by Defendants, Plaintiff has 

suffered financial loss, including lost compensation and benefits, and lack of full-time employment.   

20. As a result of her sudden and unexpected termination by Defendants, Plaintiff has 

yet to receive a payout of her accrued paid time off and other benefits, to which she is entitled.  
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COUNT I 

Violation of Plaintiff’s Civil Rights under 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983 

 

21. Plaintiff incorporates by reference herein paragraphs 1 through 20 as if more fully 

set forth herein. 

22. Under the color of state, county and/or municipal laws, statutes, ordinances, 

regulations, customs and/or usages, Defendants violated Plaintiff’s civil rights in contravention 

of 42 U.S.C.A. § 1983 and the United States Constitution and amendments thereof. 

23. Plaintiff was a public employee when she engaged in constitutionally protected 

activities, including donating to Robinson’s campaign for reelection and distributing cards to 

independent voters supporting Robinson, which invoked her First Amendment rights of freedom of 

speech and freedom of association. 

24. The ministerial, clerical duties of the Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds include, 

among other things, supervising fiscal staff in carrying out the fiscal responsibilities of the office; 

preparing payroll and executing personnel actions and managing monthly and annual budgets. 

25. Party affiliation is not an appropriate requirement for the effective performance of 

the duties of the Second Deputy Recorder of Deeds. 

26. Defendants recklessly, outrageously, and intentionally disregarded 42 U.S.C. § 

1983 by terminating Plaintiff merely because of her political party affiliation and engagement in 

constitutionally protected activity.  

27. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful actions, Plaintiff has 

suffered financial damages in the form of lost compensation and benefits, for which the 

Defendants are liable.   
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered in her favor and 

against Defendants and that Defendants be made to pay legal damages in excess of the statutory 

limits of arbitration, which damages shall include back pay, front pay, lost future earnings, 

consequential damages, costs, interest, attorneys’ fees and punitive damages.  

COUNT II 

Wrongful Termination 

 

28. Plaintiff incorporates the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 27 above as if same 

were set forth at length herein. 

29. Defendants’ actions in terminating Plaintiff for politically motivated reasons 

constitute a wrongful termination under Pennsylvania common law.   

30. Plaintiff was a public employee when she engaged in constitutionally protected 

activity, specifically donating to Robinson’s campaign for reelection and distributing cards to 

independent voters supporting Robinson.  

31. Therefore, Plaintiff can invoke her First Amendment rights to free speech and 

association to support a claim of wrongful discharge under Pennsylvania law.  

32. Defendants recklessly and outrageously terminated Plaintiff merely because of 

her political party affiliation and engagement in constitutionally protected activity. 

33. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful termination, Plaintiff has 

suffered damages in the form of lost income and benefits, for which the Defendants are liable.   
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that judgment be entered in her favor and 

against Defendants and that Defendants be made to pay legal damages in excess of the statutory 

limits of arbitration, which damages shall include back pay, front pay, lost future earnings, 

consequential damages, costs, interest, attorneys’ fees and punitive damages.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

HAMBURG, RUBIN, MULLIN, 

MAXWELL & LUPIN 

 

 

 

By: 

ETHAN R. O’SHEA       

GABRIELLA T. LACITIGNOLA 

I.D. NOS. 69713, 324415 

375 Morris Road, P.O. Box 1479 

Lansdale, PA  19446 

215-661-0400 

eoshea@hrmml.com 

glacitignola@hrmml.com 

 

Date:  July 28, 2022 
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